RECLAMATION

Managing Water in the West

Canal Inspection Methods Literature Review

Research and Development Office Science and Technology Program Final Report 2014.PN02



Nathaniel Gee, Jennifer Johnson, Julia Pierko, Colleen Dwyer



Mission Statements

The U.S. Department of the Interior protects and manages the Nation's natural resources and cultural heritage; provides scientific and other information about those resources; and honors its trust responsibilities or special commitments to American Indians, Alaska Natives, and affiliated island communities.

The mission of the Bureau of Reclamation is to manage, develop, and protect water and related resources in an environmentally and economically sound manner in the interest of the American public.

REF	PORT DOCUMENTATION PAGE	Form Approved OMB No. 0704-0188		
T1. REPORT DATE January 2015	T2. REPORT TYPE Research	T3. DATES COVERED		
T4. TITLE AND SUBTITLE Canal Inspection Methods Literature Review		5a. CONTRACT NUMBER 14XR0680A1- RY1541RD20143PN02 5b. GRANT NUMBER		
		N/A		
		5c. PROGRAM ELEMENT NUMBER 1541 (S&T)		
6. AUTHOR(S)Nathaniel Gee, Civil Eng	ineer, ngee@usbr.gov, 702-293-8029	5d. PROJECT NUMBER PN02		
 Julia Pierko, PN Regiona 	ulic Engineer, <u>imjohnson@usbr.gov</u> , 208-378-5225 al Liaison, <u>ipierko@usbr.gov</u> , 202-513-0671	5e. TASK NUMBER N/A		
Colleen Dwyer, Technical Writer-Editor, cdwyer@usbr.gov , 702-293-8420		5f. WORK UNIT NUMBER LC-6600		
 7. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION NAME(S) AND ADDRESS(ES) Nathaniel Gee, 500 Fir Street, Boulder City, Nevada, 89006 Jennifer Johnson, 1150 N. Curtis Road, Ste 100, Boise, Idaho, 83706 		8. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION REPORT NUMBER N/A		
9. SPONSORING / MONITORING AGENCY NAME(S) AND ADDRESS(ES) Research and Development Office U.S. Department of the Interior, Bureau of Reclamation, PO Box 25007, Denver CO 80225-0007		10. SPONSOR/MONITOR'S ACRONYM(S) R&D: Research and Development Office BOR/USBR: Bureau of Reclamation DOI: Department of the Interior		
12. DISTRIBUTION / AVAIL		11. SPONSOR/MONITOR'S REPORT NUMBER(S) N/A		

12. DISTRIBUTION / AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

Final report can be downloaded from Reclamation's website: https://www.usbr.gov/research/

13. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES

14. ABSTRACT (Maximum 200 words)

This literature search summarizes existing knowledge about void and seepage detection methods applied to canal channels. It compiles available field investigation methods that are useful for canal seepage and void detection and evaluation, including visual methods, geophysical survey techniques, and nondestructive inspection methods. The varied techniques identified through the literature search have been evaluated for cost effectiveness, accuracy, practicality for large scale use, and other factors. The ultimate objective of this research is to develop a practical and cost effective single method or suite of methods to better detect and evaluate canal seepage sources and paths. Any method that is identified should be able to be implemented by Regional, Area, and Field Office staff or their respective contractors.

15. SUBJECT TERMS

Seepage detection void methods canal

Coopage, actorion, void, motificate, carrain						
16. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF: U		17. LIMITATION OF ABSTRACT		19a. NAME OF RESPONSIBLE PERSON		
				Nathaniel Gee		
b. ABSTRACT	c. THIS PAGE	U		19b. TELEPHONE NUMBER 702-293-8029		
			OF ABSTRACT	D. ABSTRACT C. THIS PAGE U 25		

PEER REVIEW DOCUMENTATION

Project and Document Information

Project Name/Document: Canal Inspection Methods Literature Review

WOID: 14XR0680A1-RY1541RD20143PN02

Document Author(s): Nathaniel Gee, Jennifer Johnson, Julia Pierko, Colleen Dwyer

Document date: January 2015

Peer Reviewer: Tony Wahl

Review Certification

Peer Reviewer:	I have reviewed the	assigned	items/sections(s)	noted for the	above	document
and believe them	to be in accordance	with the	project requireme	nts, standards	of the	profession
and Reclamation	policy.					
Reviewer			Date Reviewed			
	(Signature)					

Tony L. Wall

Digitally signed by TONY WAHL DN: c=US, o=U.S. Government, ou=Department of the Interior, ou=Bureau of Reclamation, cn=TONY WAHL, 0.9.2342.19200300.100.1.1=14001000107789

Date: 2015.04.06 14:30:55 -06'00'

Contents

Contents	i
Executive Summary	1
Inspection and Detection Methods	2
Traditional field seepage tests Ponding and Dye Tracer Tests	
Inflow-Outflow Tests	2
Geologic and Hydrogeologic Characterization Evaluation of Existing Data	
Drilling	3
Hydrogeologic Characterization	3
Remote Sensing	
Thermal Imaging (Infrared)	4
Self-Potential Method	4
Ground-Penetrating Radar	5
Electrical Resistivity	5
Microwave Radiometry	6
Other Methods	7
Hydrochemical Tracers	7
Fiber Optic Sensors	7
Next Steps	9
Appendix	11
Literature Search Citations	

Executive Summary

Canal inspection is a significant part of the Bureau of Reclamation's Operations and Maintenance program, and regular inspection is required as a part of Reclamation Directive and Standard FAC 01-04. Reclamation is particularly concerned with identifying canals which have potential voids or active seepage that can potentially pose risks to urbanized areas. Some voids and seepage from canals can be detected by regular visual inspections, but methodologies are being researched that allow for identification and inspection of voids and seepage that cannot be detected by visual means alone.

Some traditional methods such as inflow-outflow tests, ponding tests, point measurement, and geologic and hydrogeologic characterization are well understood and are routinely used by Reclamation and other water managers. Therefore, these methods were not further investigated in this study; however, a summary of these methods is included for completeness.

Development of new technologies, methods and practices for subsequent incorporation into Reclamation inspection programs is of particular interest to the Lower Colorado and Pacific Northwest Regions due to recent incidents involving the Central Arizona Project aqueduct and the New York Canal. Determining the best methods to find and quantify the extent of seepage to ensure a breach does not occur on these and other canals is a significant priority for these Regions, with broader potential applicability to all canals.

This literature search is one step being taken to assemble and assess existing knowledge about void and seepage detection methods applied to canal channels. This activity compiles available field investigation methods that are useful for canal seepage and void detection and evaluation. This includes various geophysical survey techniques, and visual and other nondestructive inspection techniques. The techniques identified through the literature search have been evaluated for cost effectiveness, accuracy, practicality for large scale use, and other factors.

The ultimate objective of this research is to develop a practical and cost effective single method or suite of methods to improve detection and evaluation of canal seepage sources and paths. Any method that is identified should be practicable for implementation by Regional, Area, and Field Office staff or their respective contractors. This scoping report is the first step in identifying existing methods. Future work may include rating the existing methods based on a set of criteria to identify the best approach for given conditions. Another future step may include identifying gaps in current knowledge and technology that can benefit from researching new tools or methodologies.

Inspection and Detection Methods

Traditional field seepage tests

The field seepage rates of soils can be measured using traditional methods such as ponding tests, dye tracer tests, and inflow-outflow tests.

Ponding and Dye Tracer Tests

Ponding tests are widely considered the most accurate means of measuring channel seepage and are generally regarded as the best technique against which other methods can be assessed. Ponding tests and dye tracer tests are conducted when the canals are not in use and empty. Traditionally, they are conducted by first sectioning off a portion of a canal, either by creating a temporary impoundment structure or by using a field tool such as a ring infiltrometer. The impoundment structure or field tool is filled with a volume of water and the rate that the water infiltrates into the ground is observed. If a dye tracer is used, it would be added to the infiltrating water and observed in wells or drainage features down gradient. Since it is necessary to carefully control the volume of water that is infiltrating, these tests are often limited to small, discrete sections of canals. Because non-flow conditions can introduce some inaccuracies, these tests are best suited for situations when possible seepage locations have been identified and need to be further evaluated.

Inflow-Outflow Tests

Inflow-outflow tests are another traditional method for identifying seepage rates of soils. They consist of measuring the flows passing upstream and downstream points and then calculating the difference between the flow values. A negative value indicates that the reach is losing water (i.e. water is infiltrating) and a positive value indicates that the reach is gaining water. This method is best suited to long sections of channel that contain apparent seepage, from which there are no diversions, and which contain suitable structures in which to incorporate measuring devices. It is important to also account for other sources of inflow or water loss, such as evaporation or drainage inflows to the canal.

Geologic and Hydrogeologic Characterization

Evaluation of Existing Data

To prioritize the use of expensive methods for studying subsurface conditions, existing information should be reviewed to provide a preliminary understanding of the conditions and to identify locations where new data should be collected.

Existing data may include:

• *Maps of surface features, including elevations* – The spatial location and elevation of surface features is very important when trying to characterize the subsurface. Relevant features include canals, wells (both operating and

observation), rivers, and land use. The relative location and elevation of these features in combination with other subsurface information (such as well logs) can provide a conceptual understanding of the subsurface.

- *Well logs* A well log is an accounting of differing soils and geologic material by depth that is recorded when a well is drilled. Most states require that a well log be submitted when a well is drilled and many have public databases to access such logs. The logs can be developed by drillers or geologists and the quality of the log may depend on the knowledge and experience of the person recording the log.
- *Geologic maps* Geologic maps are available at a variety of scales and provide a general idea of the geologic conditions in a geographic area. They often include both material classification and structural information (location of faults, etc.).
- *Construction reports or drawings* Depending on the age of the canal, construction reports may be available and may include information about the geologic material near the canal.
- Water level data If wells exist near the location in question, there may be water level data that has been collected over time. This water level data can be used to determine the impact of the canal operation on groundwater conditions.

Drilling

When information is not available in a particular location, new wells can be informative. Samples of subsurface material can be collected while the well is being drilled and can be used to determine the stratigraphy of the subsurface. Drilling wells is invasive and expensive; however, the information gained from drilling can often be the best indicator of subsurface conditions in a particular location. In addition, wells can be used to conduct permeability tests and be fitted with instrumentation to continuously monitor groundwater elevations.

Hydrogeologic Characterization

Compiling geologic characterization data and collected water level information can provide an understanding of the groundwater conditions near a canal. Groundwater conditions are often permanently altered when canals are constructed because the seepage from the canal becomes a new source of recharge to the aquifer. In some cases, this has the positive impact of increasing groundwater supplies, and in other cases, it raises the water table to a level that inundates lands

Water level data from nearby wells can be used to evaluate the impact of the canal on the aquifer. If data is continuously collected and evaluated, anomalies that may indicate additional seepage from the canal can be identified. In addition, data that

Canal Inspection Methods Literature Review

has been collected over time can be used to determine if elevated groundwater conditions are a result of canal seepage or other recharge sources.

Remote Sensing

Thermal Imaging (Infrared)

One method of detecting or determining seepage is to use thermal imaging, like infrared spectral imaging (Perotti, 2013). This method does not directly measure the flow of water, but rather measures infrared radiation or heat to discover areas of vegetation and/or cooler temperatures that could be caused by seepage from the canal.

Thermal imaging is typically accomplished with the use of aircraft so large areas can be covered in one data-gathering period and then analyzed in the office. It also can be performed with no destructive or operational impacts to the canal.

However, the limitation of this method is that it only indicates areas of possible concern. The cooler temperatures or vegetation growth could be caused by other factors such as a local spring or naturally occurring high groundwater, or even local irrigation in a more urbanized area. Also, this only indicates aspects that would likely be noted in a visual inspection. Therefore, this method is most often employed in large canal systems where visual inspection either has not taken place or is not practical at a desired level of detail (Shutko, 2005).

This method could be useful as a preliminary investigation tool for determining possible focus areas for subsequent visual inspection but there may be limited added value for Bureau of Reclamation canals that routinely undergo full visual inspections.

Self-Potential Method

The self-potential method is based on the measurement of areal variations in electrical potential in a soil mass. There are several possible sources that generate variations of electrical potential, and the source of interest for seepage detection is the electrokinetic, or streaming, potential caused by the flow of an electrolyte (water) over or through a naturally charged solid (soil mass). The method requires the placement of stationary electrodes but can also be used in conjunction with roving electrodes. Because the effect is measured between electrodes, it can only cover areas where electrodes are installed.

Unlike methods that detect just the presence of water, the self-potential method directly measures flow and seepage, resulting in a significant reduction of what could be false positives in areas of saturated soil with no seepage.

The limitation of this method is that the changes in the electric field caused by flow are very small and can be difficult to distinguish from other self-potential sources such as metal in a dam or canal or powerlines in the area (Boleve, 2013).

In fact any buried metal object can cause a self-potential to occur. This can be a significant drawback as canals are often used as utility corridors and therefore have powerlines or pipelines adjacent to the channels.

Ground-Penetrating Radar

Ground-Penetrating Radar (GPR) is a method for measuring soil water content, but does not measure the actual flow of water. It is generally applicable only in investigations of very shallow depths less than six feet (Wadhwa, 2008). GPR has been used for many years and therefore is a well-tested technology, but the method's limitations are also well documented. The presence of large percentages of clay or high water content can often defeat GPR (Wadhwa, 2008). This makes testing from the water side of the canal ineffective, and voids or seeps on the dry side or toe of the canal are often too deep for GPR to be effective. GPR also has limited areal coverage compared to aircraft-deployed thermal imaging. GPR can be towed by vehicle or boat to cover a greater area, but this still leaves limitations of depth.

Due to these limitations, GPR has rarely been used in canal testing. This literature review found only a single application (Wadhwa, 2008); thus, this would likely have limited application in Reclamation canals. It has been used to successfully find voids in other structures such as spillways and outlet tunnels, but to accomplish similar work on concrete-lined canals, the canals would have to be drained which presents a significant limitation.

Electrical Resistivity

Like any electrical conductor, soil possesses an electrical resistance that can be measured and is affected by the properties of the soil and the presence of water. Electrical resistivity measurements in both canal embankments and embankment dams have been used to determine location of voids, and to find moist areas that might be indicative of seepage. There are several methods to determine electrical resistivity. Most methods involve electrodes that send out an electrical signal and a separate set of electrodes to read the signal and determine resistivity.

If the area of concern is specifically known, electrodes can be permanently installed within that area (Pognant, 2013). Then the electrodes can be set to send out a pulse at given intervals with the readings automatically recorded. Therefore, this method can give continuous readings on the resistivity of the embankment material; however, this is limited to the area of permanently installed electrodes.

Another more common deployment method is to set an electrode temporarily in a fixed location while another electrode or set of electrodes is moved by boat, car or other means along the canal embankment to obtain a resistivity profile (Cassel, 2003). With this method large areas along a canal can be covered in a single inspection. However, since the electrodes are not permanently installed, this is a one-time inspection and cannot be used for continuous monitoring.

Canal Inspection Methods Literature Review

Reclamation has conducted some work with roving resistivity surveys in the past. In 2009 a survey for canal seepage in the Yuma, AZ area was done as a demonstration project (Kaufmann, 2009). The geophysical survey measured resistivity in the All-American Canal with two methods for moving the roving electrodes:

- a boat towing a line of electrodes through the channel, and
- a person pulling the electrodes while walking along the canal embankment

Some researchers have seen sudden jumps in resistivity that pinpoint specific sites of potential seepage using this method (Pognant, 2013). Wadhwa (2008) was able to locate potential seepage areas and both water- and air-filled voids beneath a canal. This ability to combine void detection and potential seepage detection in a single method could be a great benefit to Reclamation.

During the Yuma field demonstration (Kaufmann, 2009) researchers were only able to determine the soil types in an area. This indicated some embankments made of materials that had high potential for seepage, but no specific points of seepage were found. Further investigation has shown that the area of inspection did indeed have seepage occurring that the method did not detect.

The primary limitation of resistivity methods is that they only note the presence of water in the soil and do not determine flow. Therefore active seepage and saturated soil would appear to be similar with the use of this method.

Microwave Radiometry

Microwave Radiometry has been used for remote sensing of moist soil areas associated with levees and zones of high groundwater level (Shutko, 2005). This, like thermal imagery, is acquired by equipment attached to aircraft, so this method can cover large portions of a canal or land area. The advantage microwave radiometry has over thermal or infrared imagery is that the microwave energy has some ability to penetrate the ground and indicate conditions under the earth's surface.

This can give some information regarding water content in soil; however, like many of the other remote sensing methods, it only gives soil water content and therefore does not distinguish saturated soil from that which has active water flow. This method would also be unable to distinguish seepage flow from flow from lateral canals or other irrigation systems. Also, it is unclear from the limited research available on the method as to how deep into the soil the microwaves can penetrate and give reliable data. No data below 6 feet was presented in the reviewed papers.

Other Methods

Hydrochemical Tracers

Isotope and tracer investigations can be used in detailed studies to assess channel seepage. Types of tracers used include conservative (non-reactive) chemical tracers such as chloride, and isotopic tracers such as the stable isotopes of hydrogen (deuterium) and oxygen (oxygen-18).

Outputs from these types of studies, combined with water balance estimates, can be used to produce estimates of seepage rates in two ways:

- In a **Mass Balance** approach, the concentration of a tracer in channel water is measured along with other inflow and outflow components. The method combines the use of a water balance and a chemical/isotopic mass balance to estimate two unknown components (seepage, and inflows [precipitation] or outflows [evaporation]).
- Tracing the Seepage Plume method uses the hydrochemical/isotopic concentration of seepage water to define the volume of water that has leaked from a channel over a specific period of time.

Hydrochemistry can be used to either estimate the rate of seepage from a water body or to indicate where seepage may be higher compared to other parts of the water body. It is not considered to be applicable for routine channel seepage assessment, but is useful for tracing a plume seeping from a channel into the surrounding groundwater system. This is dependent upon the concentration of the tracer in the water leaking from the channel being different from the tracer concentrations in the surrounding soil and groundwater, as indicated by analyses of selected tracers from a series of monitoring wells.

Use of naturally occurring or artificially enhanced tracers may be valuable if information is obtained on a potential seepage plume over a long time period, and in an area large enough to account for spatial and temporal changes in seepage (Wimmera Mallee Water, 2003). The difficulty with this method is that canal flows limit the time available for sufficient volumes of dosed water to seep into the aquifer and be detected. Another major disadvantage of this method can be the high cost of artificial isotopes and specialized expertise needed for application and evaluation, so this is generally not a practical solution for seepage location identification

Fiber Optic Sensors

Fiber optics has been widely used in civil engineering applications and for monitoring hydraulic structures such as concrete and earth dams, levees and dikes. The monitoring system is based on a combination of fiber optic sensors and related instrumentation to detect the first steps of internal erosion processes and

Canal Inspection Methods Literature Review

structural instability. The detection of leaks, an early stage of the internal erosion process, is assessed through temperature changes.

For decades, temperature measurements have been typically recognized as one of the most relevant physical parameters for detecting leaks through embankments (Beck et. al, 2012). Capabilities to measure temperature significantly increased when fiber optic technology allowed distributed temperature measurements that could be used for both long-term leak monitoring and internal erosion early warning systems. The fiber optic Distributed Temperature Sensing (DTS) method was developed at the beginning of the 1980s at Southampton University in England.

A distributed sensor network supported by fiber optics is useful in harsh environments or along structures that span long distances. A large number of sensors can be supported in a single optical fiber line due to the tremendous optical bandwidth and low power loss of the technology. Additionally, such a network has the capability of evaluating several engineering parameters (i.e., strain and temperature) over several miles in various types of large-scale structures. It is a powerful diagnostic instrument for the identification and localization of potential problems. With the widespread use of modern communications technologies, the fiber optic measurements can also be collected and structures can be monitored from a central station several miles away from the site. This remote capability allows immediate detection, so necessary actions can be taken to reduce risk.

However, given the high costs of installation and assembly of a fiber optic thermal monitoring system, the placement of this technology on existing canals is likely to be limited to those reaches that may present potential flood hazards if breached. But this method may be appropriate for integration into new construction where it can be incorporated into a canal or embankment design.

One product (TenCate GeoDetect®) detects both internal erosion and instability through the use of a geotextile with interwoven fiber optic cables that are connected to instrumentation. The system includes both the hardware (geotextile fabric, sensors, instrumentation) and the related software to analyze the data produced from the sensors. The detection of leaks at the early stage of the internal erosion process is assessed through temperature change measurements, while the first stages of embankment settlement or sliding are detected by strain measurement. The interpretation of the raw thermal and strain data combined with signal processing methods would allow the system to send "early warnings" and to be compatible with long-term monitoring. Additionally, the filtration properties of the geotextile increase the stability of the soil, helping prevent the internal erosion process.

For existing structures, the temporary installation of fiber optic technology in specific canal sections or reaches may be effective for assessing potential seepage

locations. For example, in research conducted in the Netherlands in 2007, one-mile sections of fiber optic cable were placed at the bottom of canals and connected to DTS equipment (Sensornet Sentinel DTS-LR). This study proved that DTS is effective in identifying seepage in ditches and canals at places that were not known before, and suspected sites of seepage could be confirmed and assessed to determine their exact location and extent. The research also showed that the fiber optic cables could be reused without damaging the fragile glass fiber inside. Bending and stress on the cable during the installation and removal in the canals had no negative impact on the fibers (Hoes et al., 2009).

However, this technology is still relatively new and much research is required before large-scale field deployment is possible: (1) extensive work is required to understand and process the raw measurements into useful engineering quantities; (2) sensor development is still very much in its infancy; and (3) the long term durability of the sensing system in the real world needs to be established (Rajeev, et. al., 2013). The data acquired can also be influenced by several factors, including existing structures (drains, tunnels, etc.), heat transfer from the soil, seasonal temperature variations, precipitation, etc.

Thus, fiber optic monitoring is not yet envisioned as a replacement for the traditional methods of seepage investigations, i.e., local inspections, and geophysical and geotechnical methods. All these methods should be considered to be a set of tools which can be selectively applied on a case-by-case basis for individual canal sections that are being considered for study.

Next Steps

This scoping report is a summary of available literature describing available field investigation methods that can be used to detect canal seepage or voids beneath canals. The methods include various geophysical survey techniques along with visual and other nondestructive inspection techniques. The ultimate objective of this research is to develop a practical and cost effective single method or suite of methods to improve detection and evaluation of canal seepage sources and paths. This scoping report is the first step in identifying existing methods. Future work may include rating the existing methods based on a set of criteria to identify the best approach for given conditions. This work may also include identifying gaps in current knowledge and technologies that may benefit from researching new tools or methodologies.

Appendix

Literature Search Citations

- Alam, M. M., & Bhutta, M. N. (2004, April). Comparative evaluation of canal seepage investigation techniques [Electronic version]. *Agricultural Water Management*, 66(1), 65-76. doi:10.1016/j.agwat.2003.08.002
- Arshad, M. (2008). *Improving the accuracy of canal seepage detection through geospatial techniques Abstract* (Doctoral dissertation, George Mason University, Fairfax). Retrieved October 17, 2014, from http://gradworks.umi.com/33/38/3338533.html
- Artieres, O., Bonelli, S., Radzicki, K., Royet, P., Fabre, J., Vedrenne, C., & Guidoux, C. (2007, September). Active and Passive Defences against Internal Erosion of Dikes. *ICOLD Symposium 2007 Assessment of the Risk of Internal Erosion of Water Retaining Structures: Dams, Dykes and Levees*, 235-244. Retrieved October 17, 2014, from http://www.tencate.com/emea/Images/GeoDetect%20for%20Hydraulic%20w orks%20Detection%20methods%20against%20Internal%20Erosion_tcm28-21758.pdf
- Beck, Y., Cunat, P., Reboud, M., Courivaud, J., Fry, J., & Guidoux, C. (2012, August). Improvement of leakage monitoring in dikes by the use of distributed fiber optics sensors [Electronic version]. *Proceedings on the 2012 International Conference on Scour and Erosion*, 1345-1352.
- Bhanbhro, R., Al-Ansari, N., & Knutsson, S. (2014, March 4). Frequent Breaches in Irrigation Canals in Sindh Pakistan. *Journal of Water Resource and Protection*, 6(4). doi:10.4236/jwarp.2014.64027
- Boleve, A. (2013, August 13). Advances in Leak Detection. In *International Water Power & Dam Construction*. Retrieved October 17, 2014, from http://www.waterpowermagazine.com/features/featureadvances-in-leak-detection/
- Bouley, B. (Ed.). (2008). Detecting Voids Behind Conduits Using Acoustic Technology. In *Water Operation and Maintenance Bulletin* (Vol. 225, pp. 9-27). Denver, CO: Bureau of Reclamation. Retrieved October 17, 2014, from http://www.usbr.gov/assetmanagement/WaterBulletins/225sept08.pdf

- Bowders, J. J. (2004, September 13). Nondestructive Evaluation Methods. *Proceedings of the RMK Symposium (Drexel University)*. Retrieved October 17, 2014, from http://www.geosynthetica.net/Uploads/KoernerSympJohnBowders.pdf
- Brockway, C. E., & Worstell, R. V. (1968). Field Evaluation of Seepage Measurement Methods. In *Proceedings of the 2nd Seepage Symposium Phoenix*, *AZ* (pp. 121-127). N.p.: US Department of Agriculture Agricultural Research Service. Retrieved October 16, 2014, from http://eprints.nwisrl.ars.usda.gov/899/1/124.pdf
- Bureau of Reclamation. (1968). Measuring Seepage in Irrigation Canals by the Ponding Method. In *Irrigation Operation and Maintenance Bulletin No. 65*. Retrieved October 16, 2014, from http://www.usbr.gov/assetmanagement/WaterBulletins/065sep1968.pdf
- Bureau of Reclamation. (1964). *Progress Report Investigation of a Seepage Meter Designed by the Agricultural Research Service Lower Cost Canal Lining Program* (Hyd-529 ed.). Retrieved October 16, 2014, from http://www.usbr.gov/pmts/hydraulics_lab/pubs/HYD/HYD-529.pdf
- Büyüköztürk, O. (1998, August). Imaging of concrete structures [Electronic version]. *NDT&E International*, *31*(4), 233-243. doi:10.1016/S0963-8695(98)00012-7
- Cassel, F. S., Zoldoske, D., Norum, E., & Jacobsen, T. (2003). Detecting Canal Seepage Using the Electromagnetic Induction Method. Fresno, CA: Center for Irrigation Technology, California State University - Fresno. Retrieved October 17, 2014, from http://irrigationtoolbox.com/ReferenceDocuments/TechnicalPapers/IA/2003/I A03-0486.pdf
- Comina, C., & Sambuelli, L. (2012, September). Geoelectrical Measurements for Agricultural Canal Seepage Detection [Electronic version]. *Proceedings of the Near Surface Geoscience 2012 18th European Meeting of Environmental and Engineering Physics*, 1.
- Chowdhury, K., Millet, R., Punyamurthula, S., Hong, G., & Tollefson, N. (2012). It is Seepage Indeed A Sensitivity Study on Seepage and Seepage-Induced Slope Stability of Levees. In *Proceedings of the 2012 Annual USSD Conference New Orleans, LA* (pp. 659-689). N.p.: US Society on Dams. Retrieved October 16, 2014, from http://ussdams.com/proceedings/2012Proc/659.pdf

- Del Grosso, A., Inaudi, D., Cottone, I., & Wu, M. (2010). The role of structural monitoring in the management of risks associated to dams. Shanghai, China: Chinese Academy of Sciences. Retrieved October 17, 2014, from http://dspace.imech.ac.cn/bitstream/311007/43249/1/shanghai_Full%20text.pd f
- Engelbert, P. J., Hotchkiss, R. H., & Kelly, W. E. (1997, January). Integrated remote sensing and geophysical techniques for locating canal seepage in Nebraska [Electronic version]. *Journal of Applied Geophysics*, *38*(2), 143-154. doi:10.1016/S0926-9851(97)00022-0
- EnTech Engineering Inc. (n.d.). Levees and Waterways Overview. Retrieved October 17, 2014, from http://www.entechworld.com/services/levees and waterways#overview
- Frontier Geosciences Inc. (n.d.). Self Potential Surveys. Retrieved October 17, 2014, from http://www.frontiergeo.com/self_potential.html
- Hoes, O. A., Luxemburg, W. M., Westhof, M. C., Van De Giesen, N. C., & Selker, J. (2009, December). Identifying Seepage in Ditches and Canals in Polders in the Netherlands by Distributed Temperature Sensing [Electronic version]. *Lowland Technology International*, 11(2), 21-26.
- Hotchkiss, R. H., Wingert, C. B., & Kelly, W. E. (2001, February). Determining Irrigation Canal Seepage with Electrical Resistivity [Electronic version]. *Journal of Irrigation and Drainage Engineering*, *127*(1), 20-26. doi:10.1061/(ASCE)0733-9437(2001)127:1(20)
- Huang, Y., & Fipps, G. (2002). Thermal Imaging of Canals for Remote Detection of Leaks: Evaluation in the United Irrigation District. College Station, TX:
 Texas A&M University System. Retrieved October 17, 2014, from http://gfipps.tamu.edu/documents/Thermal%20Final%20Report.pdf
- Huang, Y., Fipps, G., Leigh, E., & Karimov, A. (2006). Applications of Remote Sensing Technology for Irrigation System Analysis (Poster Session). College Station, TX: Texas A&M University System. Retrieved October 17, 2014, from http://idea.tamu.edu/documents/Poster2006_RemoteSensingforIrrigation__RG BI.pdf

- Huang, Y., Fipps, G., Maas, S., & Fletcher, R. (2009). Airborne Remote Sensing for Detection of Irrigation Canal Leakage. In *Irrigation and Drainage*.
 Hoboken, NJ: Wiley Interscience. Retrieved October 17, 2014. doi: 10.1002/ird
- India Department of Atomic Energy. (2013). Isotope applications in water resources management. Retrieved October 17, 2014, from http://www.barc.gov.in/rcaindia/rca_indian_expertise_environment_1.html
- Khan, A. A., Vrabie, V., Beck, Y., Mars, J. I., & D'Urso, G. (2014, June 4). Monitoring and early detection of internal erosion: Distributed sensing and processing. *Structural Health Monitoring*, 1-15. doi:10.1177/1475921714532994
- Khan, A. A., Cunat, P., Beck, Y. L., Mars, J. I., Vrabie, V., & Fabre, J. (2010, July). Distributed Fiber Optic Temperature Sensors for Leakage Detection in Hydraulic Structures. *Proceedings of the 5th World Conference on Structural Control and Monitoring Tokyo, Japan*. Retrieved October 17, 2014, from https://hal.archives-ouvertes.fr/file/index/docid/539714/filename/wcscm_japan_version.pdf
- Kaufmann, R. (2009). *Geophysical Survey for Canal Seepage Yuma Area Demonstration Project*. Yuma, AZ: Bureau of Reclamation. Retrieved October 17, 2014, from http://www.usbr.gov/lc/yuma/programs/wc_updates/reports/georpt/geophysica lreport.pdf
- Kinzli, K., Martinez, M., Oad, R., Prior, A., & Gensler, D. (2011). Using an ADCP to determine canal seepage in the Middle Rio Grande Conservancy District. In *Proceedings of the 2011 USCID Water Management Conference Albuquerque*, NM (pp. 303-314). N.p.: US Committee on Irrigation and Drainage. Retrieved October 16, 2014, from http://hdl.handle.net/10217/79320
- Krzysztof, R. (2014, June). The important issues of levees monitoring with special attention to thermal-monitoring method application. *Proceedings of the South Baltic Conference on New Technologies and Recent Developments in Flood Protection 2014*. Retrieved January 2015, from http://suw.biblos.pk.edu.pl/resources/i4/i4/i8/i0/i0/r44800/2014%20RADZIC KI%20The%20important%20issues%20of%20levees%20monitoring%20with %20attention%20to%20thermal-monitoring.pdf

- Leigh, E., & Fipps, G. (2009). *Measuring Seepage Losses from Canals Using the Ponding Test Method*. College Station, TX: Texas A&M AgriLife Extension. Retrieved October 16, 2014, from http://idea.tamu.edu/documents/Extension%20Publications/B-6218.pdf
- Lum, K. Y., & Sheffer, M. R. (2005, March 10). Dam Safety: Review of Geophysical Methods to Detect Seepage and Internal Erosion in Embankment Dams. *HydroReview*, *29*(2). Retrieved from http://www.hydroworld.com/articles/hr/print/volume-29/issue-2/articles/damsafety-review.html
- McComas, D. (2014). Science Committee Report (describing UAVSAR Remote Sensing of California Aqueduct). Retrieved October 17, 2014, from http://www.nasa.gov/sites/default/files/files/MCCOMAS-SC Report.pdf
- Miramap. (2014). MIRA Technology. Retrieved October 17, 2014, from http://www.miramap.com/menu11/mira+technology?cmssite=15354d27044ba fcef060f938e0e520a9
- Perotti, L., Clemente, P., De Luca, D. A., Dino, G., & Lasagna, M. (2013). Remote sensing and hydrogeological methodologies for irrigation canal leakage detection: the Osasco and Fossano test sites (Northwestern Italy) Abstract. *European Geosciences Union Geophysical Research Abstracts*, *15*, 1. Retrieved October 17, 2014, from http://meetingorganizer.copernicus.org/EGU2013/EGU2013-5705.pdf
- Pognant, D., Canone, D., Previati, M., & Ferraris, S. (2013). Using EM Equipment to Verify the Presence of Seepage Losses in Irrigation Canals [Electronic version]. *Procedia Environmental Sciences*, *19*, 836-845. doi:10.1016/j.proenv.2013.06.093
- Pringle, J. K., Styles, P., Howell, C. P., Branston, M. W., Furner, R., & Toon, S. M. (2012, December). Long-term time-lapse microgravity and geotechnical monitoring of relict salt mines, Marston, Cheshire, U. K [Electronic version]. *Geophysics*,77(6), B287-B294. doi:10.1190/GEO2011-0491.1=
- Rajeev, P., Kodikara, J., Chiu, W. K., & Kuen, T. (2013). Distributed Optical Fibre Sensors and Their Applications in Pipeline Monitoring [Electronic version]. *Key Engineering Materials*, *558*, 424-434. doi:10.4028/www.scientific.net/KEM.558.424
- Rajeul, S. R., Thomas, V. T., Jouen, T. J., Mohammad, S. M., & Maineult, A. M. (2014, June). Electrical Resistivity Tomography for the Detection of

- Unmapped Underground Cavities. *Proceedings of the 76th European Association of Geoscientists and Engineers 2014*. Retrieved October 17, 2014, from http://earthdoc.eage.org/publication/download/?publication=75835
- Saeed, T. U., & Khan, T. A. (2014, January 18). Impact of Water Losses and Maintenance of Canal Irrigation System on Agriculture (Case Study: Urmar Minor of Warsak Gravity Canal Pakistan [Electronic version]. *American Journal of Experimental Agriculture*, 4(5), 550-562. doi:10.9734/AJEA/2014/6352#sthash.QXQb5xLL.dpuf
- Sarki, A., Memon, S. Q., & Leghari, M. (2008). Comparison of Different Methods for Computing Seepage Losses in an Earthen Watercourse [Electronic version]. *Agricultura Tropica et Subtropica*, 41(4), 197-205.
- Sensornet. (n.d.). Case Study Shining a light on embankment dam safety. Retrieved October 17, 2014, from http://www.sensornet.co.uk/images/PDF/download862c.pdf
- Shutko, A., Gulyaev, Y., Chusov, I., Sidorov, I., Novichikhin, E., Golovachev, S., & Krapivin, V. (2005, June). Microwave radiometric remote sensing for emergency mapping of areas with water seepage through levees and of zones with dangerously high groundwater level [Electronic version]. *Proceedings of the 25th EARSeL Symposium on Global Developments in Environmental Earth Observation from Space*, 305-314.
- Simm, J., Jordan, D., Topple, A., Mokhov, I., Pyayt, A., Abdoun, T., & Bennett, V. (2013). Interpreting sensor measurements in dikes experiences from Urban Flood pilot sites. In *Comprehensive Flood Risk Management* (pp. 327-336). London, England: Klijn & Schweckendiek. Retrieved October 17, 2014, from http://www.urbanflood.eu/Documents/Paper_Jonathan%20Simm_Interpreting %20sensor%20measurements%20in%20dikes_043.pdf
- Singh, S. K., Lal, C., Shahi, N. C., & Chand, K. (2013). Estimation of canal seepage under shallow water table conditions. In *Journal of Academia and Industrial Research* (February 2013 ed., Vol. 1, pp. 571-576). Tamil Nadu, India: Youth Education and Research Trust. Retrieved October 16, 2014, from http://jairjp.com/FEBRUARY%202013/14%20SINGH.pdf
- Slaff, S. (1993). Earth Fissures and Related Subsidence Features Adjacent to the Tucson Aqueduct, Central Arizona Project, Pinal and Pima Counties, Arizona. Tucson, AZ: Arizona Geological Survey. Retrieved October 17, 2014, from

- http://repository.azgs.az.gov/sites/default/files/dlio/files/2010/u14/OFR_93_1 EF Tucson Aqueduct.pdf
- Sonnichsen, R. (1993). *Seepage Rates from Irrigation Canals*. Olympia, WA: Washington State Department of Ecology. Retrieved October 16, 2014, from https://fortress.wa.gov/ecy/publications/publications/oftr9303.pdf
- TenCate. (2012). GeoDetect 'intelligent' geotextile. Retrieved October 17, 2014, from http://www.tencate.com/amer/geodetect/default.aspx
- Thomson, S., Ouellet-Plamondon, C., Defauw, S., Huang, Y., Fisher, D., Hanks, J., & English, P. (2010, June). Irrigation System Management Assisted by Thermal Imagery and Spatial Statistics [Electronic version]. *Proceedings of the XVIIth World Congress of the International Commission of Agricultural and Biosystems Engineering*.
- US Environmental Protection Agency. (1993). *Use of Airborne, Surface and Borehole Geophysical Techniques at Contaminated Sites*. Cincinnati, OH: US EPA Center for Environmental Research Information. Retrieved October 17, 2014, from http://nepis.epa.gov/Adobe/PDF/30004K6A.pdf
- Wadhwa, R. S., Ghosh, N., Chaudhari, M. S., Chandrashekhar, V., & Sinharay, R. K. (2008, January). Delineation of cavities in a canal bed by Geophysical Survey in Navargaon Project Area, Maharashtra [Electronic version]. *Journal of the Indian Geophysical Union*, 12(1), 55-62.
- Watt, J., & Khan, S. (2007). The Use of Geophysics to Model Channel Seepage [Electronic version]. *Proceedings of the MODSIM 2007 biennial congress on modelling and simulation (Modelling and Simulation Society of Australia and New Zealand)*, 1471-1477.
- Wimmera Mallee Water. (2003). Open Channel Seepage & Control. Horsham, Australia: Murray-Darling Basin Commission. Retrieved October 17, 2014, from http://irrigationefficiency.co.nz/assets/Uploads/NPSI.Au-14pdf.pdf
- Yao, L., Feng, S., Mao, X., Huo, Z., Kang, S., & Barry, D. A. (2012, April 2). Coupled effects of canal lining and multi-layered soil structure on canal seepage and soil water dynamics. *Journal of Hydrology*, 430, 91-102. doi:10.1016/j.jhydrol.2012.02.004
- Zetica. (2009). Flood Defences, embankments and dams non-intrusive monitoring and investigation methods. Retrieved October 17, 2014, from http://www.zetica.com/downloads/Flood d2.pdf